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PER CURIAM:

William Ortiz Lazaro seeks to appeal his 135-month
sentence iImposed Tfollowing his guilty plea, pursuant to a
written plea agreement, to one count of Hobbs Act robbery, 1in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) (2006) (““Count Fourteen”), and
one count of possession of a firearm in furtherance of a crime
of wviolence, 1in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 924(c)(L)(A)(1),
(O (1) (2006) (““Count Fifteen). On appeal, Lazaro contends
that the district court applied the 1incorrect standard 1in
determining whether a Tfive- or seven-year statutory minimum
applied on Count Fifteen, erred 1iIn applying a six-level
enhancement on Count Fourteen, and erred in failing to compare
Lazaro’s sentence to those of his codefendants. In response,
the Government asserts that Lazaro’s appellate waiver bars
review of his second and third claims.

We conclude that Lazaro’s appellate waiver was knowing
and voluntary, as the district court TfTully questioned Lazaro
regarding the waiver, and the totality of the circumstances
indicates that Lazaro understood the wailver’s significance. See

United States v. Johnson, 410 F.3d 137, 151 (4th Cir. 2005).

Because his second and third claims fall within the scope of the

waiver, see United States v. Blick, 408 F.3d 162, 168 (4th Cir.

2005), we agree with the Government and dismiss these claims.



As to Lazaro’s preserved claim, we affirm. Lazaro
argues that the district court erred In determining whether he
was subject to a five- or seven-year statutory minimum on Count
Fifteen by evaluating whether 1t was reasonably foreseeable that
his codefendants would brandish their firearms. In assessing a
challenge to a sentence enhancement, we review the district
court’s factual findings for clear error and 1its legal

conclusions de novo. United States v. Carter, 601 F.3d 252, 254

(4th Cir. 2010).

Section 924(c)(1)(A) requires the imposition of a
consecutive Tive-year sentence where a defendant possesses a
firearm in furtherance of a crime of violence; however, “if the
firearm is brandished, [the defendant shall] be sentenced to a
term of imprisonment of not less than 7 years.” 18 U.S.C.
8§ 924(c) (DA (11). “A defendant may be convicted of a 8 924(c)
charge on the basis of a coconspirator’s use of a gun if the use
was in Tfurtherance of the conspiracy and was reasonably

foreseeable to the defendant.” United States v. Wilson, 135

F.3d 291, 305 (4th Cir. 1998). Moreover, a defendant may be
convicted of a 8 924(c) offense on the basis of coconspirator
liability even without a separate conspiracy charge. United

States v. Zackery, 494 F.3d 644, 647-48 (8th Cir. 2007); cf.

United States v. Ashley, 606 F.3d 135, 143 (4th Cir. 2010)

(holding that vicarious coconspirator Hliability need not be
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charged In the indictment). Applying these standards, we hold
that the district court correctly determined the applicable
statutory minimum. Lazaro”’s companion claim that the district
court improperly assessed whether the brandishing was reasonably
foreseeable i1n order to determine whether Lazaro aided and
abetted the brandishing 1is similarly without merit, as the
district court made no aiding or abetting determination.
Rather, the court merely applied the seven-year statutory
minimum to Lazaro on the ground that 1t was reasonably
foreseeable that Lazaro’s codefendants would brandish their
weapons.

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm Lazaro’s
convictions, which he does not challenge on appeal, and the
district court®s ruling as to Lazaro’s claim of error on Count
Fifteen. We dismiss his claims as to Count Fourteen. We
dispense with oral argument because the facts and legal
contentions are adequately presented in the materials before

this court and argument would not aid the decisional process.

AFFIRMED IN PART,
DISMISSED IN PART




